IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-ICA-58

IGA EFiled: May 22 2023 02:33PM EDT Transaction ID 70059655

JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D., *Defendant-Below, Petitioner*,

v.

MICHAEL RODGERS, *Plaintiff-Below, Respondent.*

PETITIONER JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.'S OPENING BRIEF

Counsel for Petitioner, John R. Orphanos, M.D.

Thomas J. Hurney, Jr. (WV Bar No. 1833) Blair E. Wessels (WV Bar No. 13707) JACKSON KELLY PLLC Post Office Box 553 Charleston, West Virginia 25322 (304) 340-1000 thurney@jacksonkelly.com blair.wessels@jacksonkelly.com

Richard D. Jones (WV Bar No. 1927)
J. Dustin Dillard (WV Bar No. 9051)
FLAHERTY SENSABAUGH BONASSO, PLLC
200 Capitol Street

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The circuit court erred in denying Dr. Orphanos' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Claims Other than Medical Negligence, or in the Alternative, Motion to Bifurcate.
- B. The circuit court abused its discretion in denying Dr. Orphanos' Motion in Limine to Preclude Plaintiff from Asserting or Arguing that Defendant was "Reckless."
- C. The circuit court erred in denying Dr. Orphanos' oral Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law and post-trial Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law.
- D. The circuit court abused its discretion in denying Dr. Orphanos' *Motion for a New Trial*, which included the following issues:
 - 1. The circuit court abused its discretion when it denied Dr. Orphanos' pre-trial motions for Partial Summary Judgment and *in Limine* regarding recklessness.
 - 2. The circuit court abused its discretion by reading to the jury Plaintiff's proposed jury instruction defining recklessness as "an act of unreasonable character in disregard for a risk known to him or so obvious that it must be taken that he was aware of it."
 - 3. The circuit court abused its discretion by reading to the jury Plaintiff's instruction regarding "emergency surgery," and allowing a question to be posed regarding "emergency surgery" on the Verdict Form.
 - 4. The circuit court abused its discretion by failing to either exclude a supplemental expert disclosure filed by Plaintiff just over two months before trial and after discovery had been completed or, in the alternative, grant a continuance to allow Dr. Orphanos adequate time to rebut the evidence.
 - 5. The circuit court abused its discretion by excluding the testimony of Dr. Orphanos' vascular neurology expert, Dr. Jodi Gehring, regarding the effect that a 2020 stroke had

- on Plaintiff's life expectancy.
- 6. The circuit court abused its discretion by permitting Plaintiff's life care planner, Nadene Taniguchi, R.N., to testify that Plaintiff's stroke in 2020 was related to the care rendered by Dr. Orphanos in 2017.
- 7. The circuit court abused its discretion by permitting Dr. Daniel Feinberg, Plaintiff's neurology expert, to render opinions on the standard of care of a neurosurgeon.
- 8. The circuit court abused its discretion by permitting Dr. Mark Weidenbaum, Plaintiff's standard of care expert, to be recognized as a spine surgery expert.
- 9. The circuit court abused its discretion by precluding Dr. Orphanos from cross examining Plaintiff's mother with notes she made that contemporaneously describe a discussion she had with Dr. Joby Joseph, a CAMC treating neurologist.
- 10. The circuit court abused its discretion by denying Dr. Orphanos' pre-trial Motion *in*Limine and allowing evidence that Dr. Orphanos miscounted vertebral bodies during the surgery at issue.
- 11. The circuit court abused its discretion by failing to instruct the jury to disregard Plaintiff's demonstrative pie chart during closing arguments.
- 12. The cumulative prejudicial impact of the above cited errors resulted in a trial in which Dr. Orphanos was deprived of his fundamental right to an impartial and neutral trial under the law.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

On June 4, 2017, Michael Rodgers ("Plaintiff") lost control of his motorcycle and crashed; he was then life flighted to Charleston Area Medical Center ("CAMC") General Hospital, a Level

1 Trauma Center, where he received care for his injuries as a trauma patient. App. 52. After a CT scan revealed spinal fractures, Plaintiff was admitted to the Surgical Trauma Intensive Care Unit. App. 31, 450 On June 5, 2017, in response to a request for a neurosurgery consultation, Dr. Orphanos assessed Plaintiff and diagnosed a T5 Chance fracture (a transverse fracture through a vertebral body and neural arch). *Id.* Dr. Orphanos determined the spinal fracture was unstable and required surgery. App. 52, 450. The following day, Dr. Orphanos performed surgery, which involved placing orthopedic screws into the vertebrae to stabilize the fracture. App. 31, 450.

After the surgery, Plaintiff had no movement in his lower extremities. App. 53. Dr. Orphanos ordered a spinal CT scan. App. 451. Because the scan did not show evidence of anything which would explain the paralysis, such as spinal cord compression, any malalignment of the orthopedic screws, or evidence of any formation of epidural hematoma, Dr. Orphanos recommended that Plaintiff be returned to surgery. App. 32, 451, 2387. During the second surgery, Dr. Orphanos explored the spine but saw no evidence of compression or any interference with the spinal cord. App. 451, 2387. Plaintiff's paraplegia persisted and was ultimately determined to be permanent. App. 32, 54. According to a treating physician and defense experts, the paralysis was caused by a spinal cord infarct, *i.e.*, spinal cord stroke that occurred during the surgery, which was neither predictable nor preventable. ¹

Plaintiff filed a complaint against Dr. Orphanos on May 30, 2019, alleging three breaches of the standard of care: (1) prior to the first surgery, Dr. Orphanos should have ordered an MRI of the thoracic spine; (2) during the surgery, Dr. Orphanos should have used a system called

¹ Dr. Johy Joseph was one of P

¹ Dr. Joby Joseph was one of Plaintiff's treating physicians, and during a conversation with Plaintiff's mother, Dr. Joseph said he believed Plaintiff's paraplegia was caused by a spinal cord infarct. App. 2369–70. Dr. Orphanos' causation expert, Dr. Dennis Whaley, offered the opinion that Plaintiff's paraplegia was caused by a vascular injury sustained at the time of the motorcycle accident that infarcted the spinal cord. App. 170, 3328–29.

intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring ("IONM") to monitor Plaintiff; and (3) after learning about Plaintiff's loss of function following the initial surgery, Dr. Orphanos should have ordered a CT myelogram. App. 55–58. Plaintiff further claimed that Dr. Orphanos' treatment amounted to gross negligence and recklessness and sought punitive damages.² App. 58–60.

While discovery was ongoing, on July 9, 2020, Plaintiff was diagnosed at the Carilion Clinic in Virginia with a right sided, middle cerebral artery embolic stroke, which left him with left sided hemiparesis. App. 23, 817–18, 2387. Plaintiff never amended his complaint to allege that Dr. Orphanos' 2017 care caused or contributed to his July 2020 stroke. *See* App. 51–61.

B. Procedural History

1. Pre-Trial Motions

On January 21, 2021, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, arguing that the "Trauma Cap" in the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"), W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c, did not apply because two statutory exceptions were implicated: (1) the surgery did not qualify as an "emergency" under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(e)(1); and (2) Dr. Orphanos' treatment and conduct were "reckless" under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1). App. 385–93. Dr. Orphanos opposed the motion. App. 449–65. The circuit court denied the motion on May 21, 2021, concluding that the jury would determine whether Plaintiff's surgery was emergent, and whether Dr. Orphanos acted recklessly. App. 589–94.

On January 5, 2022 (shortly before the scheduled March 14, 2022, trial date), Plaintiff served a Second Amended Expert Witness Disclosure, which included a new life care plan from Nadene Taniguchi, R.N., and a new economic report by Clifford Hawley, Ph.D., both relating to a claimed connection between Plaintiff's 2020 stroke and Dr. Orphanos' 2017 care. App. 761–84.

² Plaintiff later abandoned his claim for punitive damages. App. 746 ("[T]he Plaintiff has <u>never</u> alleged punitive damages in this case" (emphasis in original)).

Despite having Nurse Taniguchi's new life care plan since September 2021, and Dr. Hawley's new economic report since October 2021, *see* App. 765, 770, Plaintiff did not disclose them until two months before trial.

Dr. Orphanos moved to exclude the reports, arguing that Plaintiff had not identified an expert to causally link Dr. Orphanos' 2017 care to Plaintiff's 2020 stroke, and that the disclosure and updated reports were untimely produced. App. 816–35. In a separate motion, Dr. Orphanos moved to continue the trial date, arguing that Plaintiff added a new claim to the case without providing him an opportunity to conduct discovery. App. 785–91. During a hearing on Dr. Orphanos' motions, Plaintiff's counsel stated he would provide Dr. Orphanos "great latitude" in responding to the new disclosures. App. 2315, 2500. On February 24, 2022, the circuit court denied both of Dr. Orphanos' motions. App. 814–15, 1297–98.

On March 7, 2022, Dr. Orphanos served his Second Supplemental Expert Witness Disclosure, which included opinions from experts rebutting Plaintiff's new expert opinions. App. 1158–63. Despite the earlier assurance of "great latitude," on March 9, 2022, Plaintiff moved to strike the experts, arguing the supplemental expert disclosure was untimely and prejudicial. App. 1296–1301. During the circuit court's March 14, 2022, pre-trial hearing—held the day before jury selection—the circuit court granted in part and denied in part Plaintiff's motion to strike. App. 2506. Critically, the court precluded Dr. Orphanos from offering expert testimony from Dr. Jodi Gehring discussing the effect the 2020 stroke had on Plaintiff's life expectancy. *Id*.

The circuit court addressed other outstanding motions at the pre-trial hearing. Pending were Dr. Orphanos' two motions regarding the claim that he acted with a "reckless disregard of a risk of harm to the patient" under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1): (1) Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Claims other than Medical Negligence, App. 595–601, 729–40, and (2) Motion *in*

Limine to Preclude Plaintiff from Asserting or Arguing the Defendant was "Reckless." App. 948–53. In both motions, Dr. Orphanos argued that none of Plaintiff's experts opined that he was "reckless," and that he had disclosed experts who testified that his treatment met the standard of care. App. 737–38, 950. As such, Dr. Orphanos argued that there was no evidence, and specifically no expert evidence, that his care amounted to anything beyond simple negligence; thus, Plaintiff should have been barred from arguing "recklessness" at trial. App. 2518–19. The circuit court denied both motions at the pre-trial hearing, holding that the determination of whether Dr. Orphanos was reckless would be based on the totality of all the evidence presented at trial and not on any one expert's opinion. App. 2518, 2520.

Dr. Orphanos' other motions addressed at the pre-trial conference included (1) Motion *in Limine* to Exclude Medical Expenses Not Supported by Expert Testimony, relating to the testimony of Nurse Taniguchi, App. 1057–60; (2) Motion *in Limine* to Exclude the Testimony of Plaintiff's Expert, David Feinberg, M.D., Regarding the Applicable Standard of Care, App. 1029–34; and (3) Motion *in Limine* to Exclude Evidence or Testimony Regarding Miscounting of Vertebral Bodies During Surgery. App. 979–83. The circuit court denied all three motions at the pre-trial conference. App. 2513–15, 2511–913, and 2516–17, respectively.

2. The Trial

The trial began on March 15, 2022, and lasted for seven days. App. 2533–3707. Because the circuit court denied Dr. Orphanos' pre-trial motions on the issue of recklessness, Plaintiff's counsel actively injected recklessness at every turn, including voir dire,³ opening statement,⁴ and

³ During voir dire, Plaintiff asked the following questions: "How about a situation where a doctor doesn't mean to hurt the patient, but the result is the patient is hurt and it's shown that a doctor is reckless. Do you believe there are situations where doctors are reckless?" App. 3897; "Is there a difference in your mind between making a mistake and being reckless?" App. 3898.

⁴ During opening statements, Plaintiff argued, "First, Do No Harm. And when you think about doing no harm, when you listen to the evidence in this case and the things that Dr. Orphanos did and failed to do, it

closing argument.⁵ But no witness testified Dr. Orphanos was reckless or anything close to it.

On the first day of trial, Plaintiff's mother testified. App. 2654. During her direct examination, Ms. Rodgers referred to personal notes she made while talking with Plaintiff's treating physicians. App. 2669. On cross examination, Dr. Orphanos moved to introduce the notes into evidence. App. 2682–85. Without objection, the court admitted the notes. App. 2685. Dr. Orphanos then sought to question Ms. Rodgers on her notes about a conversation she had with Dr. Joby Joseph, one of the treating physicians, who told her that he believed Plaintiff's paralysis was caused by an "infarction just above T3/T4" that "would have happened at the time of accident" resulting in a "possible spinal stroke," thus supporting Dr. Orphanos' causation defense. App. 2685, 2369–70. But Plaintiff then objected, arguing the admission of the notes would violate the circuit court's order on Dr. Orphanos' motion *in limine* precluding standard of care or causation opinions not previously disclosed. App. 2686–87. The circuit court sustained Plaintiff's objection and disallowed the previously admitted notes. App. 2687, 2694–95. Dr. Orphanos, thus, was precluded from inquiring about the conversation.

On March 16, 2022, Plaintiff called Dr. Mark Weidenbaum, his standard of care expert, and moved to qualify him as an expert in spine surgery. App. 2721, 2735–36. Dr. Orphanos objected, arguing there was an insufficient foundation regarding whether Dr. Weidenbaum had experience in treating Chance fractures (like the one suffered by Plaintiff). App. 2736. The circuit court overruled Dr. Orphanos' objection and qualified Dr. Weidenbaum as an expert. *Id*.

_

will defy logic that when a doctor makes the wrong choices and the reckless choices and doesn't treat a patient reasonably and appropriately and responsibly, he does harm. He should not be able to escape accountability or responsibility for the negligent, unreasonable and reckless choices he made during the course of Mike's care and treatment." App. 2545–46.

⁵ During closing argument, Plaintiff stated, "And how many times have we talked about the things Dr. Orphanos failed to do, neglected to do, recklessly failed to do, not because he is a bad doctor. Because he made a fatal and serious, reckless mistake when he took Mike into surgery without dotting all the Is, and crossing all the Ts to avoid this catastrophe." App. 3603.

After the presentation of all the evidence, Dr. Orphanos moved for partial judgment as a matter of law under Rule 50(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, arguing that the evidence presented at trial was insufficient to allow the issue of recklessness under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1) to be presented to the jury, App. 3558–60; specifically, none of Plaintiff's experts offered testimony demonstrating that Dr. Orphanos' alleged breaches of the standard of care were "reckless," and the evidence failed to establish recklessness. App. 3439. Plaintiff countered that the MPLA does not require expert testimony on the issue of recklessness, and that the jury could determine recklessness based on the totality of the evidence. App. 3559–60. The circuit court denied Dr. Orphanos' motion, finding that sufficient evidence had been presented for the jury to find in favor of Plaintiff on the issue of recklessness. App. 3560.

Before the circuit court instructed the jury, the court directed counsel to submit a Proposed Jury Charge that reflected the parties' respective objections to ensure that all objections were preserved. App. 3563–64.6 The parties jointly submitted the Proposed Jury Charge with Dr. Orphanos' objections in red font and Plaintiff's objections in blue font. App. 1895–1921. Dr. Orphanos objected to any instruction or interrogatory on the jury Verdict Form referencing recklessness, and to the instruction defining recklessness misstating the law based on W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1) and West Virginia case law. App. 1910. Dr. Orphanos also objected to the inclusion of an instruction on "emergency surgery" because whether the initial surgery constituted an "emergency" was irrelevant to the application of the Trauma Cap. App. 1908–09. The circuit court overruled Dr. Orphanos' objections. App. 3562–67.

_

⁶ Regarding the Proposed Jury Charge and Instructions, the circuit court stated, "[i]t has your objections on there, so I can guess for purposes of any kind of appeal, I guess I could - - we can file the proposal that you all sent in that notes the objections[.] [...] Yes, I think for each of these it is in parenthesis the objection and the reason for the objection. [...] Yes, that's why I think it would make sense to file the joint proposed charge that has the objections for each instruction." App. 3563–64.

Dr. Orphanos also objected to the proposed Verdict Form because the first question asked the jury to determine whether "the first surgery performed on Michael Rodgers was an emergency surgery." App. 3565. He objected based on the reasons previously asserted regarding the "emergency" jury instruction and arguments in response to Plaintiff's motion for directed verdict. App. 3565, 3561–62. He also objected to the placement of the "emergency surgery" question on the Verdict Form, arguing that it should not have been the first question posed to the jury. App. 3567. Rather, Dr. Orphanos argued that the first question posed to the jury should be on the standard of care because if the jury found that Dr. Orphanos did not breach the standard of care, then no other inquiries were needed. *Id.* The circuit court left "emergency surgery" as the first question. App. 3568.

During Plaintiff's closing argument, Dr. Orphanos objected to the use of a pie chart, App. 1924, that showed pieces of "pie" relating to the claimed damages with, by far, the largest of the "pie" pieces labeled as non-economic damages. App. 3636–37. Dr. Orphanos argued that the pie chart inappropriately suggested to the jury a larger amount should be awarded for non-economic damages and requested that the jury be instructed to disregard the pie chart. App. 3637. The circuit court overruled the objection. App. 3638.

3. Post-Trial Motions

On March 24, 2022, after deliberation, the jury returned a verdict finding for Plaintiff. App. 1408–11. The jury found: (1) the first surgery performed on Plaintiff was not an "emergency surgery"; (2) Dr. Orphanos was negligent; (3) Dr. Orphanos' breach of the standard of care caused or contributed to Plaintiff's paraplegia; (4) Dr. Orphanos was reckless in his care and treatment of Plaintiff; (5) Dr. Orphanos' negligence caused or contributed to Plaintiff's 2020 stroke; and (6) Plaintiff was not negligent in failing to present to the emergency department prior to his 2020

stroke. *Id.* Based on these findings, the jury returned the following verdict for Plaintiff regarding his paraplegia and the 2017 surgery:

Past expenses for care and treatment	\$1,374,079.00
Lost Earning Capacity	\$591,166.00
Future care, treatment and	\$6,511,940.00
renovation expenses	
Past pain, suffering and loss of	\$1,000,000.00
enjoyment of life	
Future pain, suffering and loss of	\$1,500,000.00
enjoyment of life	

App. 1409. For Plaintiff's 2020 stroke, the jury awarded additional damages:

Additional future care and treatment	\$1,793,690.00
Future pain, suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life associated with stroke	\$5,000,000.00

App. 1410. When combined, the total verdict was \$17,770,875.00.

On April 13, 2022, Dr. Orphanos filed a Motion to Reduce Verdict Consistent with the MPLA, App. 1412–24, which Plaintiff opposed. App. 1467–91. After briefing, the circuit court heard argument on April 29, 2022. App. 3708. On June 9, 2022, the circuit court entered an order (1) deferring ruling (by agreement of Plaintiff's counsel) on Dr. Orphanos' motion to reduce the entire verdict under the MPLA's Trauma Cap; (2) applying W. Va. Code § 55-7B-8 to reduce the verdict for non-economic damages to \$750,000.00; and (3) taking under advisement Dr. Orphanos' motion to reduce the award of medical expenses; the court also instructed the parties to exchange additional information on the medical bills. App. 8–16. The parties exchanged information and filed supplemental briefing. App. 1612, 1625. The circuit court held another hearing on June 30, 2022. App. 3755. The circuit court's rulings on these issues were included in its Judgment Order.

The Judgment Order was entered on September 12, 2022. App. 1–7. The circuit court

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