#### INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-ICA-58

ICA EFiled: Jul 06 2023 04:18PM EDT Transaction ID 70319435

JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.,

**Defendant-Below, Petitioner,** 

v. DOCKET NO. 23-ICA-58

(On Appeal from Circuit Court of Kanawha County, Civil Action No. 19-C-561)

MICHAEL RODGERS,

Plaintiff-Below, Respondent.

RESPONDENT MICHAEL RODGERS' BRIEF IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR APPEAL OF JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.

John W. Barrett, Esq. (WVSB #7289)
P. Gregory Haddad (WVSB #5834)
Kerrie W. Boyle (WVSB #9439)
Sharon F. Iskra (WVSB #6582)
BAILEY GLASSER, LLP
209 Capitol Street
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
Tel. No. (304) 345-6555
Fax No. (304) 342-1110

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Defendant's appeal is not about "ensuring a level playing field." Pet. Br. 10. It is about a defendant's disagreement with a verdict that he feels should have gone his way — a verdict reached after a fair trial by a properly-instructed jury that considered expert testimony from both Plaintiff and Defendant, sided with Mr. Rodgers, and found that Defendant acted recklessly in performing spine surgery "blind" to the condition of Mr. Rodgers' spinal cord, JA 3090, rendering a patient who entered surgery with full neurological strength to one who woke up with permanent paraplegia. The jury's \$17.6 million verdict, which was reduced post-trial to less than \$10 million, represents the bare minimum that Mr. Rodgers requires to take care of his basic medical needs for the rest of his life — needs that are a direct result of Defendant's indefensible recklessness, as the jury found.

Defendant's main argument is that, because none of Mr. Rodgers' experts specifically labeled his conduct as "reckless," the jury's conclusion on this point cannot stand. In so arguing, Defendant seeks to shoehorn this case into the MPLA's Trauma Cap, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(l)

— which, if applicable, would limit the total damages here to \$500,000. This argument fails for a host of reasons, including (1) the Trauma Cap itself contains no reference to expert testimony (*see* W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(l)); and (2) another provision of the MPLA that governs the standard of care for medical professionals, *see id.* § 55-7B-7(a), *does* contain a reference to expert testimony (which means that the Legislature knows how to require such testimony when it wants to). The fact that expert testimony is referenced in the MPLA's standard-of-care provision but *omitted* from the Trauma Cap necessarily means that no such testimony is required to demonstrate recklessness under the latter. Syl. Pt. 3, *Manchin v. Dun*fee, 174 W. Va. 532, 535, 327 S.E.2d 710, 714 (1984).

Even if expert testimony were required to establish recklessness under the Trauma Cap (it is not), Defendant's argument would still fail because an expert's job is to opine on whether the Defendant deviated from the applicable standard of care; it is the *jury's* job to apply the law to the facts. That Plaintiff's experts here did not actually label Defendant's conduct as "reckless" is legally irrelevant, because it is up to the jury to decide whether the facts supported such a finding — and here, the facts certainly did. Defendant's argument that the presence of conflicting expert testimony as to whether he violated the standard of care precluded a finding of recklessness is simply wrong as a matter of law; it does not.

Finally, even if there were insufficient evidence to support the jury's finding of recklessness the verdict should still stand because the jury *also* found that this was not an emergency surgery — and that fact alone, which was amply supported by all the expert testimony, is more than sufficient to render the Trauma Cap inapplicable here.

Defendant offers a hodge-podge of other arguments challenging discretionary rulings of the court that would withstand scrutiny even under a de novo standard of review. For example, he challenges the court's decision to allow Plaintiff to update his life care plan to reflect recently incurred medical damages (while allowing Defendant time to submit new rebuttal reports), an even-handed ruling well within the court's ample discretion. He challenges the court's equally correct decision not to allow Plaintiffs' mother to be questioned about what a non-testifying physician apparently told her about the cause of Mr. Rodgers' spinal injury (testimony that would have constituted rank hearsay, among other things). He then mischaracterizes statements of counsel in order to claim they were improper; challenges jury instructions that were accurate and fair to both parties and did not mislead the jury; and even challenges the court's decision to allow a board-certified spine surgeon with 35 years of experience to offer expert testimony on spine surgery.

None of these challenged decisions comes even close to an abuse of discretion, much less the sort of fundamental error that could invoke the "sparingly" used cumulative error rule that Defendant invokes at the end of his brief. *See Tennant v. Marion Health Care Fdn., Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 97, 118, 459 S.E.2d 374, 395 (1995). At most, the purported errors reflect the Defendant's disagreement with the verdict, which provides no basis for appeal at all.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure 18(a), Mr. Rodgers respectfully requests Rule 19 oral argument because it involves narrow issues of law. Contrary to Defendant's contention, this appeal is not appropriate for Rule 20 argument because it involves a straightforward application of settled law and a challenge to a jury verdict supported by substantial evidence.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"The appellate standard of review for an order granting or denying a renewed motion for a judgment as a matter of law after trial pursuant to Rule 50(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure [1998] is de novo." Syl. Pt. 1, *Fredeking v. Tyler*, 224 W.Va. 1, 680 S.E.2d 16 (2009).

A circuit court's decision to grant a new trial is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. Contemporary Galleries of West Virginia, Inc. v. Riggs Commercial Realty, LLC, 246 W. Va. 431, 435, 874 S.E.2d 34, 38 (2022); Tennant, 459 S.E.2d at 381.<sup>5</sup>

#### **ARGUMENT**

### I. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S VARIOUS MOTIONS ON THE ISSUE OF "RECKLESSNESS."

As noted above, the Trauma Cap places a \$500,000 limit on compensatory damages recoverable in cases where a patient receives treatment for an emergency condition in a designated trauma center. *See* W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(a). It contains an exception, however, in cases where the medical care is "rendered ... [i]n willful and wanton or reckless disregard for the care of the patient." *Id.* § 55-7B-9c(h)(1). The circuit court found that the Trauma Cap is inapplicable to this case based on the jury's finding that the surgery was non-emergent and that Defendant was reckless. JA 1861.

Here, Defendant argues that the Trauma Cap should apply because even though, on its face, it does not require expert testimony to prove recklessness, *see* W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(l), the Court should read such a requirement into the Trauma Cap because (1) a different section of the MPLA, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-7(a), requires expert testimony on the standard of care; and (2) an entirely different statute, W. Va. Code § 55-7-29(a), requires "clear and convincing" evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Additional standards of review pertaining to other issues raised by Defendant are set forth below.

of actual malice or recklessness to support an award of punitive damages. Both arguments are wrong as a matter of law.<sup>6</sup>

#### A. The Trauma Cap does not require expert testimony on the issue of recklessness.

Contrary to Defendant's argument, W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1) does not require expert testimony specifically opining that a health care provider was "reckless" to avoid application of the Trauma Cap. There are several reasons why this is so.

### 1. The text of the Trauma Cap says nothing about expert testimony — ergo no such testimony is required.

First, of course, the text of the Trauma Cap says nothing about expert testimony. It simply states that the cap on damages "does not apply where health care or assistance for the emergency condition is rendered . . . in willful and wanton or reckless disregard of a risk of harm to the patient." *Id.* That, in and of itself, disproves Defendant's argument right out of the starting gate, because West Virginia law is clear: Courts may not "arbitrarily . . . read into a statute that which it does not say." Syl. Pt. 11, in part, *Brooke B. v. Ray*, 230 W. Va. 355, 738 S.E.2d 21 (2013). "Just as courts are not to eliminate through judicial interpretation words that were purposely included, we are obliged not to add to statutes something the Legislature purposely omitted." *Id.*; *see also* Syl. Pt. 1, *Consumer Advoc. Div. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 182 W. Va. 152, 386 S.E.2d 650 (1989) ("A statute, or an administrative rule, may not, under the guise of 'interpretation,' be modified, revised, amended or rewritten.").

9c(h)(1).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Defendant also argues that this was not an emergency surgery, and challenges the jury instructions on this point. The flaws in this argument are addressed *infra* at Point II(F)(2). But even if this was an emergency surgery, the Trauma Cap would still not apply because Defendant was reckless. *See* W. Va. Code § 55-7B-

2. Under the doctrine *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, the reference to expert testimony in the MPLA's Standard-of-Care Provision may not be imported into the Trauma Cap.

Defendant nonetheless insists that, because the Legislature specifically referenced expert testimony in another part of the MPLA—Section § 55-7B-7(a) (the "Standard-of-Care Provision")—this Court should read such a requirement into the Trauma Cap.

This argument gets things exactly backwards: the fact that expert testimony is referenced elsewhere in the MPLA but *omitted* from the Trauma Cap "necessarily" means that no such testimony is required to demonstrate recklessness under the latter. *See* Syl. Pt. 3, *Manchin*, 327 S.E.2d at 713 (under "the familiar maxim 'expressio unius est exclusio alterius,' the express mention of one thing *necessarily* implies the exclusion of another") (emphasis added).

So held the Idaho Supreme Court in *Ballard v. Kerr*, 378 P.3d 464 (Idaho 2016), where a health care provider framed the issue in much the same way Defendant does here, arguing that because, in a medical malpractice case, expert testimony is required to prove that a medical professional violated the standard of care, such testimony must be required to prove recklessness for purposes of determining whether the case falls within an exception to a damages cap.<sup>7</sup>

The Idaho Supreme Court rejected that argument, holding that "[w]here the legislature has not expressly provided that direct expert testimony is required to prove recklessness in medical malpractice actions, we decline to apply such a requirement." Id. at 499-500 (emphasis added) (holding that "[a]lthough section 6–1012 requires that the applicable standard of care and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In Idaho, as in West Virginia, a plaintiff in a medical malpractice case must "affirmatively prove by direct expert testimony and by a preponderance of all the competent evidence" that the Defendant failed to meet the applicable standard of care for medical professionals. *See* Idaho Code § 6-1012. And in Idaho, as here, there is a cap on damages that applies *except* where a plaintiff can prove that the medical professional acted recklessly. *Id.* § 6–1603(4)(a).

Defendant's breach thereof be proven by direct expert testimony, there is no requirement that a plaintiff provide expert testimony to prove recklessness.").

Ballard is squarely applicable here. Just as in Idaho, the Trauma Cap is "silent on [a need for expert testimony on] the issue of recklessness." *Id.* Just as in Idaho, other provisions of West Virginia law expressly require expert testimony and heightened standards of proof. *See id.* (citing Idaho's MPLA and punitive damages statute). Just as in Idaho, that necessarily means that no such testimony is required to demonstrate recklessness under the Trauma Cap. *See State ex rel. Riffle v. Ranson*, 195 W. Va. 121, 128, 464 S.E.2d 763, 770 (1995) ("If the Legislature explicitly limits application of a doctrine or rule to one specific factual situation and omits to apply the doctrine to any other situation, courts should assume the omission was intentional.").

3. The MPLA's Standard-of-Care Provision merely requires expert testimony on whether the Defendant deviated from the Standard of Care, not a legal conclusion on "negligence" or "recklessness."

Even if expert testimony were required to establish recklessness under the Trauma Cap, Defendant's argument would still fail because it is based on a false premise: that, in testifying whether a Defendant has met the applicable standard of care under § 55-7B-7(a), an expert must actually *label* the Defendant's actions as "negligent" or "reckless" within the meaning of the law. Here again, the law is the exact opposite of what Defendant claims it to be.

As West Virginia's Supreme Court of Appeals has explained, "[a]s a general rule, an expert witness may *not* testify as to questions of law such as the principles of law applicable to a case, the interpretation of a statute, the meaning of terms in a statute, the interpretation of case law, or the legality of conduct. It is the role of the trial judge to determine, interpret and apply the law applicable to a case." Syl. Pt. 10, *France v. Southern Equipment Co.*, 225 W. Va. 1, 689 S.E.2d 1 (2010) (emphasis added).

Thus, in *Jackson v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Company*, 215 W. Va. 634, 644–45, 600 S.E.2d 346, 356-57 (2004), the Court held that it was improper for an expert witness to testify as to whether an insurance agent had acted with "actual malice" where such testimony "[did] not assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue." *Id.* The Court explained that "[a]fter the jurors are informed of industry practices of claims adjustment and settlement, the nature of State Farm's conduct in the instant case, and the applicable law concerning malice, they are as capable as Mr. Diaz to determine whether State Farm's conduct indicates the existence of malice." *Id.* "Therefore," the Court concluded, the expert's opinion "does not assist the jury but rather is merely cumulative." *Id.* Further, "because Mr. Diaz has been recognized as an expert, there is a danger that jurors may consider him more qualified to determine the issue of malice than they are." *Id.* 

This is not to say that an expert is prohibited from labeling a Defendant's behavior as "negligent" or "reckless." To the contrary, Evidence Rule 704 provides that "[a]n opinion is not objectionable just because it embraces an ultimate issue." But such testimony is most certainly not required, because an expert's job is simply to opine on whether the Defendant deviated from the applicable standard of care; it is the jury's job to apply the law to the facts.

So held the court in *Estate of Burns by and through Vance v. Cohen*, No. 5:18-cv-00888, 2019 WL 2553629, at \*4 (S.D.W. Va. June 19, 2019), where a doctor sued for medical malpractice argued that, "because the Plaintiff's expert witness did not expressly state that the Defendant's conduct was 'extreme and egregious bad conduct' or use the legal terms wanton, willful, reckless conduct, or criminal indifference, the Court should deprive the jury of the opportunity to hear the evidence and make that determination." *Id.* The court rejected that argument, stating that "[v]iewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party, a jury could make a

reasonable inference that the Defendant was grossly negligent. The jury could also review the evidence in this case and find that the Defendant fully met the correct standard of care. However, the Court will not make this determination simply because the expert witness did not use the 'magical' words. The jury sitting as the finder of fact makes that determination." *Id*.

Likewise, in *United States v. Jacques Dessange, Inc.*, No. S2 99 Cr. 1182 (DLC), 2000 WL 294849, at \*2 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 21, 2000), an accounting firm argued that it was entitled to summary judgment because the Plaintiff's expert "[did] not actually say that Andersen's audit was 'reckless' or an 'extreme departure' from [general accounting standards]." As in *Estate of Burns*, the *Dessange* court rejected that argument, stating that "[t]he absence of a talismanic phrase in an expert's testimony will not prevent a fact finder from concluding that Andersen's conduct was reckless. Indeed, while experts may opine on ultimate issues, *they should avoid using in their testimony the very words and phrases that constitute the elements of a claim that a jury must find."*Id. (emphasis added).

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